
(text in red added in 1-7-2014 revision) 

FMC in the Kanawha River Valley 

The Indians knew about the salt.  In 1755, they drug Mary Ingles down the Kanawha River right past 

where the Elk River joined it, and she noted the salt licks they used.  In 1788, Daniel Boone lived across 

the river from the salt licks. Early settlers drove hollow logs into the soil within sight of the river and dipped 

out brine solution to boil off and make rock salt.  They ignored the natural gas that sometimes came out of 

their salt wells.  The combination of salt, natural gas, and coal, all within 50 miles of the Ohio River, made 

the Kanawha river valley a logical location for the industries birthed by WWI and boomed by WW2. 

In FMC’s 1960 pamphlet titled “Salt Industry in the Kanawha Valley” (attached), the history of salt and 

the FMC chlorine production in the Kanawha valley is discussed.  The predecessor to the FMC chlorine 

plant was a chlor-alkali plant in the valley that was started by the Warner-Klipstein Company in 1915. By 

the 1920s, the Westvaco Chlorine Products Corporation took over the Warner-Klipstein production.  The 

pamphlet states: “By the end of the 1920’s, the plant had become the largest chlorine producer in the 

world”.  (This is a significant claim since thru WWI, Germany dominate world production of chlorine.)  In 

the 1920s, the salt brine for the chlorine plant was pumped out of brine wells on the plant property but 

those would prove insufficient. Also during the 1920s, the Carbide and Carbon Chemicals Company 

(eventually “Union Carbide”) started their South Charleston plant adjacent to the Westvaco plant. Carbide 

used chlorine from Westvaco to produce antifreeze they had developed and named “Prestone.” 

In 1948, Westvaco Chlorine merged with the Food Machinery Corporation.  The new company was 

renamed Food Machinery and Chemical Company (aka “FMC”) and the South Charleston plant was 

initially operated as FMC’s Westvaco Chlor-Alkali Division.  By 1960, it was simply called FMC’s Chlor-

Alkali Division. 

The pamphlet says that, by 1960, FMC was producing a long list of chemicals in the valley: Chlorine, 

Caustic, Dry Caustic, Carbon Disulfide, Carbon Tetrachloride (first US production), Ammonia, Fumigrants, 

Potash, Bromine, Ethylene Dibromide, Hydrogen Bromide, and, our favorite material, Dichlorocyanuric 

Acid (aka “Dry Bleach”, “Di-Chlor”, or “56”).  Missing off this list is hydrogen peroxide (when did the 

hydrogen peroxide unit start-up?) (1/7/14 comment from Harless: FMC’s Peroxide plant started up in late 

63’. FYI: I went to work the 16th of Dec.63' that Friday evening I was drafted to work overtime doing the 

first Alumina Change…. ‘Alumni’ was a catalyst filter that was submerged in oil to clean the product 

during processing and had to be periodically discarded.. maybe monthly.) 

Another source (Romano) stated that the Bechtel Corporation built the Bleach plant in the early 1960s.  

Harless states that Bleach plant started in 1963.  Since Di-chlor is listed as a product in the 1960 

pamphlet, did FMC produce Di-chlor somewhere else in the valley before 1960? (Harless comment in 

1/7/14 email: FMC's early Dry Bleach....It was produced in the East Plant just east of a building called 28-

3 (99% Caustic production). It shut down after 64'.) Also, does anybody have a history of the bleach plant 

expansions? 

In the early ‘60s thru the early 70s, FMC also started producing armored vehicles like the M110 Howitzer, 

the M113 Armored Personnel Carrier and its variants, along with trying to build railroad cars, in the main 

Ordinance Center. (Romano). 

By any measure, FMC ran a huge complex and had large employment (thousands) within South 

Charleston from 1960 thru the early 1970s.  

A couple of other interesting web links provided by Ben Paschall: 



http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interstate_64_in_West_Virginia 

http://www.wvencyclopedia.org/articles/1107 

Excerpt from an 11/2012 Article by Herman Harless:  

“In the late forties the Chlorine Plant was sold from Westvaco to FMC.  It had been on the books to be 

scrapped as there was very little market for Chlorine and almost none for Caustic.  FMC increased the 

use in Agri-chemicals  and produced a product “Tri-Chloride”  to use in DDT.  Post War II and the Korean 

War times saw a rising demand in all chemicals.  FMC poured in new funds with a new Hooker Cell Room 

and began working on Hydrogen as a by-product and ended up producing hydrogen based solid rocket 

propellants for the first space programs.  

 

They did a joint venture with Diamond Chemical to produce Carbon Tetra Chloride for refrigeration and 

fire extinguishers and tripled it in size in a very few years.  

 

In 1958 Robert Byrd was able to secure the old Naval Ordinance Plant for a pittance for FMC and the 

rush was on. With the Ordinance Plant building Armored Personnel Carriers…APCs, the north side of R. 

60 was given to the Chemical works as well as the area of the Peroxide Plant and Main Office.   

 

The New Bleach Plant was built in 1963 inside Bdg. 302 and Bdg. 304 was used as storage.   (Update via 

1/7/14 e-mail from Harless: “that should be 305 for storage….In explanation and because of that impact: 

In Feb. 1968 Bdg 305 burned 13 million pounds of stored bleach. It was the largest building north of Rt 60. 

I worked the next 99 days at 16 hrs per day and then dropped back to 14 hr days for two months without 

a day off. Many of us feared the community impact would shut down FMC then.) The Mill Water intakes 

and the Sewage lift station were manned by the FMC Power Department.  They also manned the DC 

Power conversion and distribution for the Ordinance Overhead Cranes and the Fire Water Pumps in a 

substation at BDG 312 on the south side.  

 

Lots of money was invested in expansion then.  The pipelines down the river to take Steam to an 

expanding Carbide Plant on the hill, Fly Ash to the newly acquired Beaver Pond, Clearing the Naval 

Housing area for in a City Park, and  major additions to C&O RR switching and siding yards along the old 

Kanawha Turnpike. (Later some of them gave way to the interstate.) 

 

IN 1960 FMC ramped up and started serious numbers of hiring.  In the fall after high school graduation I 

took lengthy tests for employment along with several hundred others across several months. The initial 

hires in ‘61 were a group of 25+ that were destined to be supervisors. Steve Matthews was in that group.  

Over 20 of them finally were foremen.  The hiring was continuous in small groups over the next several 

years.  I went in ‘63 in a group of ten, over the remainder of the year there were probably two more 

groups. 

 

The Bleach Product was a failure then….it lumped and became solid in the drums and could not be sold.  

In Aug. 64 they shut down Bleach, kicked 28 union employees back to the Labor Pool and initiated the 

start of Lay-offs that reached to 50 men and that recall was not for over a year. 

 

In the early ‘70’s Chemicals began to wane in the valley.  I spent a week’s vacation locally and in driving 

up and down the entire length it was very obvious that it was ‘moving out’ and leaving big vacant areas.  

 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interstate_64_in_West_Virginia
http://www.wvencyclopedia.org/articles/1107


The small chemical Companies sold and closed.  Elk Refinery was the start then small ones in Nitro then 

the joint venture like Barium Reduction at the So. Chas. location inside Carbide.  Carbide and FMC 

gobbled up some of them for their patents or technology.   

 

FMC was able to convert American Viscose into a major production plant for Vinyl Chloride used as a 

mastic base and paint base and a major money maker until the process produced a serious carcinogen 

and they lost a major law suit to that effect.  

 

That was the Death Knell to the Chemical Industry in the Valley.  They became liable to the strengthening 

EPA and Government Regulation and began moving out of the cities and into the wilderness and even 

out of the country to avoid the restrictions.  

 

DuPont quietly enlarged and produced a variety of new chemicals that took the market by storm…nylon 

and polyester bases for the clothing industry’s boom in the ‘70’s.  But the same concerns and a major 

release of Ammonia which killed several ponies in a field west of the Plant got public resistance started 

against them. 

 

Business Management Philosophy changed and Corporations began selling off small units and 

expanding large ones.  Small ones continued to be gobbled up or closed.  Goodrich Gulf Rubber was 

bought by Carbide Institute for the land and the production unit closed and scrapped. 

 

FMC began losing ground in the ‘70’s with problems with Carbon Tetra Chloride and pollution.  The 

Asbestos and Lead problems loomed and their infrastructure was blatantly in violation of new standards.  

The highly experienced work force was approaching retirement and replacement began early.    

 

By late ‘77 the National economy was down and sales were down profits were bad and so units were shut 

down and the layoffs of ‘78 began.  Many, with one to five years seniority, were let go and the units 

scrapped.  Lots of units ran minimum production to just stay online.    

 

Retirements caught up and in 1983 FMC offered its first incentive package and 1200 years of experience 

exited the plant in one day.  

 

Those of us left struggled with the gaps in the unwritten systems.  Nothing got done on time and the 

mood became depressive and negative.  When FMC came up with a video and a campaign for 

employees to give back wages and benefits as an effort to keep things going it was rejected.  

 

When the local employees asked if the Plant was for sale the corporate rep replied that “we were unique, 

like an antique car sitting there all shiny, everyone came along wanted to buy it but didn’t want to pay the 

price it was worth. We are not trying to sell it…”  A year later Olin bought it.  

 

All those things were superficial; the real issues were the EPA and liability. There they sat on a hundred 

tons of asbestos and a whole infrastructure painted with red lead.  They were the state’s largest 

consumer of electricity from a coal fired power plant that only promised rising costs in every direction.  

They had dumped scrap chemicals over a mountain for over fifty years and the bottom of the river 

showed two feet of nearly pure raw chemicals and a large part of that was Carbon Tet and Carbon bi-

Sulfide.   

 

To legally remove that liability FMC reorganized the remainder and renamed it the Spring Hill Plant so 

that FMC So. Charleston and its liability were forever gone.  



 

I am working on a list of who went to MIC at Institute when we split in 85.  There were about 25 that 

manned that unit for several years.  When it closed up some of those employees kicked back to Peroxide 

until retirement there. 

 

Another half dozen went to ‘Carbolic” a CO2 plant at Bell.  And another group went to a refinery at 

Applegrove down on the Ohio River.   

 

Note of people interest:  It was common knowledge among the citizenry of the valley during the ‘50’s’ , 

‘60’s and ‘70’s that South Charleston, WV was number four on the “hit list” for total destruction by Nuclear 

bombing should the cold war escalate or a full fledge war break out due to the major resources of the 

chemical industry for war efforts.” 

 

Excerpts from Judy Romano 11/2012 E-mails (volunteer for the South Charleston Museum): 

 

“According to an article written by the WV Historical Society Volume XVIII No. 2 dated April 2004:  FMC in 

1978 employed over 1300 people and was noted as the 28th largest chemical producer in the US in 1986 

(MIT 1989). 

I worked at Bechtel Corporation and they built the bleach until for FMC Inorganic in the early 60's and in 

1962 started working for FMC Ordnance we had several thousand employees and made M110's 

M113',xm578's and flame throwers and dappled in railroad cars.  They closed in 1969 and then Ray Park 

bought the facility in 1970.  The interstate was completed in our area in 1975 and they demolished the 

Red Roof Inn and a home under the I 64 bridge was moved out on Pennsylvania Avenue in St. Albans 

they also demolished several homes one belonging to Bob Anderson our CVB director he then moved up 

next to the gold course.  

The history of the Ordnance site is as follows: 

1917-Naval Ordnance opened, then Carnegie Illinois Steel Company-1940 US Government-1962 FMC 

Ordnance then Ray Park in 1970.”  

Excerpts from 1st Qt 1985 “Pipeline” (FMC Newsletter - attached): 

“Several years ago each of you were shown a video film that outlined problems in the South Charleston 

plant. I am sure most of you remember the dramatization of two employees discussing the shutdown of 

the FMC Avtex plant in WV and thought that it might happen here. Well, through those tough times and 

recession FMC South Charleston is still operating. In 1984 we had the best safety year in recorded 

history; top flight environmental performance, also the best on record; increased reliability; an all-time 

production record in one department and the best in five years in another; another restricted only by the 

market; and teamwork supreme. We are viewed as having the best labor relations in WV and stand as a 

national example…..  Woody Wayland.” 

Sounds great, doesn’t it?  Those words were not very prophetic and seem optimistic beyond reason.  Five 

months later the Bleach plant was sold and the main production plant was closed.  Hundreds of people 

lost their jobs.  Only the Peroxide unit and the Powerhouse remained in operation by FMC in South 

Charleston after Q4, 1985. 

(Olin had a completely different concept about what “having the best labor relations in WV” meant.  There 

was a clear legacy of FMC allowing intimidation, lack of respect, and failure to follow well understood 



workplace standards, This resulted in FMC suffering suits from employees, and they encouraged those 

suits by large, out-of-court settlements. When Olin took over the plant a few months later, the strategy 

was to have both personal and business needs met by requiring people to work safely, to treat each other 

with respect, and to follow common sense work rules.  After hearing of what had happened to people 

under FMC in the bleach plant, Olin was not going to tolerate such behavior.  Union or non-union, strikes 

or no strikes, Olin was not going to allow people to behave the way they had in the past in the Bleach 

plant. But, I am jumping ahead of the story…..)  

Leading Up to the Sale 

Olin produced phosgene which was a raw material used to produce TDI (Toluene diisocyanate).  TDI was 

then used to produce urethane foams which in turn are used in furniture cushioning, automotive seats 

and carpet padding. Olin first made toluene diisocyanate (TDI) at a plant in Ashtabula, OH, in the early 

1960s. They quickly built a much larger TDI facility in Lake Charles, where they also made phosgene.  In 

the late 1970s, Olin poured money into the Ashtabula plant trying to make it more competitive.  About 

1980, Olin decided to shutdown the Ashtabula plant, and depend on its Lake Charles TDI facility for TDI 

production. 

In 1981 or early 1982, Olin bought the TDI portion of the Allied Chemical plant located just outside of 

Moundsville, WV, on the Ohio River.  (The entire complex produced a long list of nasty chemicals, and 

the site is now being administered as an EPA Superfund clean-up site. Link: 

http://www.epa.gov/reg3hwmd/npl/WVD024185373.htm) The complex also had had a mercury cell, 

chlorine plant that Olin did not purchase. According to Zappitelli. the chlorine plant was not running when 

Olin went into the Moundsville complex.  Olin shipped chlorine to Moundsville via railcar while Olin was 

there. 

The Ashtabula facility had shutdown a year or two before Olin purchased Moundsville.  One of Zappitelli’s 

last roles at Ashtabula was finding jobs for Ashtabula employees at other Olin plants.  The shutdown of 

the Ashtabula plant, like all plant shutdowns, was catastrophic to the local community and employees.  

But, it was done, as much as possible, in an employee friendly way.  Olin was paternalistic about taking 

care of Olin employees and worked hard to cushion the loss of jobs. 

 

When they bought the Moundsville facility, several people from Olin, who had gone to other plants from 

Ashtabula, relocated to the Moundsville purchase.  (All of these individuals eventually came to the Bleach 

plant in 1985). Participating in the purchase and operation of a chemical plant was a new experience for 

the Olin personnel who went to Moundsville from Ashtabula.  Long term Olin employees who went to the 

Moundsville plant included: 

 Gene Zappitelli, HR,  

 Larry Matson, Production Management 

 John Grandbouche, Maintenance 

 Grant Offenberg, Maintenance 

 Jim York - Production  

 Dick Brendler, Chemical Engineer 

 

It seems as if Olin’s strategy for the Moundsville plant was to evaluate its potential, then, take its 

productive capacity out of the marketplace if it was not a “home run.” By 1984, Olin must have decided it 

was not a “home run” and abruptly shut down the plant with no notice. Zappitelli said “Fred Smallwood 

(Corporate HR) came to the plant and just told us Olin is shutting it down so pack up and go home”. 

According to Zapp, production was stopped immediately and people were immediately escorted out of the 

http://www.epa.gov/reg3hwmd/npl/WVD024185373.htm


plant.  If they left personal property in the plant, they did not get a chance to go back in and retrieve it. 

There was little consideration or effort made to help the plant employees.  It was like, since the 150-200 

employees were mostly from Allied, Olin had no obligation to take care of them.  

Almost none of the original Allied employees found a job within Olin.  Some of the Olin employees also 

found themselves without jobs, but, many were “parked” at other locations (primarily Lake Charles). 

One of the Allied employees who lost his job was an area manager at Moundsville named John Trouts.  

Ironically, Trouts eventually became the VP of manufacturing for the swimming pool side of EcoLabs.  

EcoLabs was a primary competitor of Olin in the swimming pool chemical business and probably 

participated in complaints to the Federal Trade Commission that claimed Olin’s purchase of the Bleach 

Plant was a violation of anti-trust rules. (In 1968, FMC burnt down a warehouse of bleach adjacent to 

MacCorkle Ave. Later, both Olin and EcoLabs had spectacular fires within warehouses that stored 

swimming pool chemicals. Both of their fires occurred within miles of I-75.  The EcoLabs fire in Atlanta, 

and the Olin fire at their Charleston, Tn, plant. Because it was a strong oxidizer, dry bleach is a 

dangerous fire hazard). Trouts left EcoLabs and became a plant manager for a couple of locations of 

Arizona Chemicals (wholly owned by International Paper). I ended up working for Trouts at the Dover, 

Ohio, Arizona Chemical plant. 

Trouts characterized the Olin shutdown of their portion of the Moundsville plants as abrupt and cold.  

“They just came in and said, “You’re laid off, effective immediately”.  People were stunned beyond words 

and I saw full sized men cry.”  Zapp said the same thing. “Many employees just sat down, put their heads 

in their hands, and cried.” 

Everybody I spoke to recognized that the Moundsville plant was probably unsustainable and would not be 

competitive in the long term.  I think people probably recognize that there was a strong business reason 

for shutting down the plant.  But, most involved were caught by surprise when they were told to go home.  

The abrupt shutdown of the operations blindsided most of the employees.  The lack of help or support by 

Olin for the employees and the community left people angry.  Any Olin employee left in the community 

was, by default, held responsible for the Olin action.  All long term Olin employees moved away from the 

Moundsville area as soon as they could. 

Richard Campbell later reflected that, “Shutting down the Moundsville plant was good for the Lake 

Charles TDI business.  It took the capacity off the market, and, eventually the Lake Charles TDI plant had 

to expand.  They told Matson and me we could stay living in the Moundsville area until they found 

something for us to do.  That wasn’t going to work so we both immediately relocated back to Lake 

Charles”. 

When Olin took over the Moundsville plant, Olin’s Richard Campbell was the new plant manager with only 

a few of his staff being Olin employees.  Many Allied managers remained in key positions.  The pros and 

cons of keeping key, incumbent, managers after a take-over, has resulted in three broad strategies 

companies can apply: 

1. If no major change is required, and the take-over firm is satisfied with performance, it is common 

to retain many if not all incumbent managers.  This is also problematic if the take-over company 

cannot provide adequate staff to replace incumbents. An example of this strategy is what 

happened when Israel Chemicals purchased the Bleach Plant from Olin. 

2. Many times, a few key managerial positions are filled with take-over personnel, and the rest filled 

with incumbents.  The risk is that, if major change is required, the incumbents are resistant and 

sometimes counterproductive to implementation of the new company philosophies.  When Dow 



purchased Union Carbide, they told incumbents in the valley that the new managerial staff would 

be half Dow and half UCC.  The UCC incumbents either would get on board or be replaced 

quickly.  Dow then did it that way.  I saw an excellent manager (by Olin standards) from UCC 

resist the “Dow way” and get replaced for not conforming.  This was the general strategy Olin 

used when they took over the Moundsville plant. 

3. The last option is to do what Olin and Campbell did at the Bleach plant during the 1985 take-over.  

The Moundsville experience seemed to have convinced Campbell and Olin to have their own 

people in all key, staff, positions, for the 1985 take-over by Olin of the bleach plant. So, in 1985, 

all of Campbell’s direct reports were all from Olin. That decision was a key strategy for 

implementing the change that was about to occur at the Bleach Plant. 

The Moundsville experience also prepared Olin well for the labor and business law environment within 

West Virginia.  They formed a relationship with a WV attorney named Bob Steptoe, of Steptoe and 

Johnson.  Steptoe was a related to the founder of the firm and concentrated on labor law, primarily within 

West Virginia.  He was used for legal actions such as WV Human Rights Commission hearings and civil 

actions against the company.  I am not sure if he was used for arbitration meetings for Union contract 

resolution at Moundsville.  Since we were non-union at the Bleach Plant, he was not involved with 

arbitration with Olin at South Charleston.  

Olin continued to use Bob Steptoe for the Bleach plant requirements.  Gene Zappitelli once told me, “Olin 

never lost a case with Bob Steptoe”. 

Many years after the Olin takeover, I was involved in a WVHRC hearing with Bob Steptoe representing 

Olin.  We had been hiring hourly employees, using incremental steps where applicants had to 

sequentially go past testing, interviewing, reference checks, and then chemical plant operator training 

before they would be hired. One applicant, during interviewing, claimed he had “retired” from the Institute 

plant as an operator.  During reference checks, I found out that his references thought he had been 

terminated in some fashion.  As usual, when I found discrepancies between what was said in an interview 

and reference checks, I called up the applicant to ask him to explain the discrepancy. The applicant 

explained how supervision at the Institute plant had been “pushing him” and how he had suffered a 

mental break down due to work induced stress.  He had applied for and been denied worker’s 

compensation for his “illness” but his attorney thought he had a good case.  He then asked me, “This 

won’t affect my chances of getting a job at Clearon, will it?” I explained to him that we used all aspects of 

the hiring process to determine who went forward to the next step.  When the hiring committee (made up 

of hourly and salary) reviewed the results of his interview and reference checks, we decided not to let him 

go forward towards being hired. It is tough to hire someone who misrepresents why he left another 

company during an interview because it feels like he was not being truthful. 

A few months later, the applicant filed a claim with the WVHRC that we had discriminated in not hiring him 

due to his “medical disability, ie, mental illness”. Fully prepared, Steptoe told me, “Don’t say a word in the 

hearing unless I ask you a question or tell you to answer, even if the administrative judge asks you.” 

Before the applicant showed up, Steptoe had a nice, long, and friendly conversation with the HRC 

administrative judge.  They spoke about common friends, about their kids, and even about some function 

they both might attend.  I thought to myself, “Boy, Steptoe knows this judge pretty well.” 

The applicant showed up without legal representation.  I sat through the hearing without saying a word.  

Steptoe gently made a fool out the applicant.  The ruling resulted in the charge being dismissed. 

 



How the Plant Made “Bleach” 

Before getting into the details of the Olin takeover, I want to describe the Bleach plant process for making 

its products, and provide some details about the building itself.  This will give you a better understanding 

of terms that will be used in this paper. 

This process for “Making Bleach” is described by a mechanical engineer, who never understood the 

chemistry…..  (Here is an opportunity for someone to write a better, yet still simple, description to replace 

this one): 

You take “crude” Isocyanuric acid (CA) (did I even spell it right?) and dump it into a large, gas fired, 

rotating, kiln.  The crude CA is mostly a white, marble-sized ball, but there is dust and larger pieces within 

the crude.  In the kiln, you spray a high strength urea on the crude, and the high temperatures cook the 

crude-urea into more crude.  Ammonia is generated, captured, and burned. This crude manufacturing is 

essentially a stand-alone process that can either be fed directly downstream, or, stored-accumulated. 

Since you have to have crude CA to charge the kiln to make more crude CA, there use to be a rhetorical 

question: where did the original crude come from?  

Removing impurities out of the crude to make it pure is the next step.  The crude is put into a reactor with 

strong sulfuric acid and boiled-reacted to remove impurities.  The resultant slurry is centrifuged in large, 

batch, centrifuges. This purified CA step is also essentially a stand-alone process where the pure CA can 

either be stored-accumulated, sold as a product, or sent forward to be chlorinated.  

By chlorinating the pure CA, you make the two, major types of chlorinated dry bleach the plant produces 

If you attach two chlorine atoms to the CA molecule, you make “Di-chlorocyanuric acid”. This was called 

“56” because of its 56% available chlorine value.  56 was usually used in household cleaners such as 

dishwashing machine soaps and “Comet”. If you attached three chlorine atoms to the CA molecule, you 

make “Tri-chlorocyanuric acid”.  This was called “90” because of its 90% available chlorine value.  The 90 

was usually used in swimming pool chemicals like Olin’s “PACE” or FMC’s “Clearon” brand. 

To chlorinate the pure CA, it goes into a reactor where liquid chlorine is introduced and reacts with the CA 

to make the bleach product.  The resultant chlorinated dry bleach then goes through extensive material 

handling for drying, sizing, and packaging. 

I’m not sure about the actual construction date of the main process building (Bldg 302).  It clearly was in 

use in WW 2.  It still had the black-out curtain beams along its north and south sides where they would 

“close-up” the building at night to prevent enemy bombers from seeing its lights.  I do know that the 

drawings we had for the building were incomplete, especially in terms of foundations.  Concrete becomes 

harder as it ages, and any concrete busting that had to be done in the any of the building floors was a 

chore since it would only break apart in small splinters.  Howard Rice, Maintenance Engineer, use to say 

“Don’t go busting concrete up in those buildings.  There’s dead Indians buried under there and you just 

don’t know what you will find.”  There were stories of concrete floors being busted up only to find large 

holes underneath that had to be poured full of concrete. There was also a legend that there was a tunnel 

between the main Naval Ordinance complex on the south side of MacCorkle Ave that came over to Bldg 

302. It was said that the naval gun barrels could be transported between the main complex and Bldg 302 

in that tunnel without spies making a count and using the information to guess at what ships the navy was 

building.  

The raw water inlet building, the Maintenance shop building, and the unit substation building were clearly 

constructed in WW 1.  The shop had an overhead crane that actually used DC voltage with lever stabs 



(think Frankenstein style) that you had to open and close to move the crane.  Every time a mechanic 

would open or close a stab, it would arc and flash just like in the movies. The building in the substation 

contained three, large, copper-wound, paper wrapped wire, transformers dating from 1911.  Each one 

was for a single phase step down to provide 480v, 3-phase electricity to the plant.  They were still in 

service when I left in the late 1990s.  If they are still service today, they are over 100 years old and still 

providing critical service to the plant.  

Now, back to the sale of the plant to Olin…………… 

Before the Sale of the Bleach Plant to Olin 

I met with Richard Campbell in late fall, 2012, in Sweetwater Tennessee. His 97 year old father had fallen 

and broken a leg, and was convalescing in a Sweetwater nursing home so we talked for an hour or so in 

his father’s room.  As I drove up into the parking lot, the single, Ford F250, stood out when compared to 

the sedans and mini-vans parked alongside.  Richard was back on the family farm.  The University of 

Tennessee engineer was now running cattle and driving a ¾ ton pick-up.  He looked thinner than the 

Bleach days; sturdy; wind burned; comfortable in his retirement. He still had his slow, Tennessee drawl.  

We had not seen each other for almost 25 years when he had left to become the Lake Charles plant 

manager sometime around 1990, but, it was easy to discuss the purchase of the Bleach plant. Campbell 

was able to describe the business strategy of Olin related to the Bleach plant, and provide details about 

other items related to the sale and subsequent operation by Olin. 

 

After closing Moundsville, Olin had said he could stay located in the Moundsville area until his next 

assignment, but, he obviously wanted to move away from the area. He and Larry Matson moved back to 

Lake Charles, where they spent a few months (less than a year) before going on the team investigating 

and doing the “due diligence” for the purchase of the FMC Bleach plant.    

 

Olin wanted two things out of the FMC situation in South Charleston: the “CA” production and, taking the 

FMC chlor-alkali plant out of the marketplace.  Olin had a “90” plant in Lake Charles they felt was more 

competitive than making “TriChlor” at South Charleston.  Problem was: Olin had failed miserably in their 

process for making CA and was buying purified CA in the marketplace as a raw material for the Lake 

Charles 90 plant. In the mid-1980s, the chlor-akali business was going through one of its traditional low 

points.  Olin was a long term, “merchant” producer of chlorine and caustic (which meant they sold more to 

other companies than consumed internally.) Olin’s chlor-alkali facilities were competitive and Olin had 

experience at surviving economic downturns and then hitting the jack-pot in terms of chlor-alkali during 

economic upturns.  The proposed sale of both facilities by FMC could potentially provide CA to Olin’s 

Lake Charles 90 plant, while firming up the chlor-alkali market by shutting down the FMC chlorine plant. 

 

After evaluating the FMC chlorine plant, which used an old, asbestos-diaphragm, Hooker cell technology, 

Olin quickly came to the conclusion that there was absolutely no economics associated with buying that 

facility. In fact, it was clear to Olin that nobody would buy that plant.  Therefore, Olin had to do nothing to 

make that capacity close down. When the chlorine market firmed back up, there would be a few hundred 

tons/day less capacity competing in the market against Olin.    

 

The Bleach Plant had a proven process for making the CA that Olin desperately needed for their Lake 

Charles plant.  The “nameplate” CA capacity was sufficient for what Olin wanted both plants to produce, 

but, the Bleach Plant was actually producing much less CA than “nameplate”. Olin felt that, with some 

investment and good old fashioned manufacturing management, they could get great economic benefit 



out of the purchase.  In addition, the sale would include the Livonia, Michigan, Tableting and Packaging 

facility which Olin could put to good use, along with the 56 production that came with the Bleach Plant. 

 

Tableting and packaging the “90” product in Lake Charles had proven troublesome to Olin.  FMC seemed 

to have a proven tableting process.  If Olin could relocate the Livonia tableting facility to the south (to 

save shipping costs) it could greatly improve the cost structure of selling “90”. 

 

Campbell summarized Olin’s business strategy as: 

1. Make enough CA to feed the Lake Charles tri-chlor plant. 

2. Get 56 production up to speed. 

3. Leverage FMCs tableting and packaging facility in Livonia, MI. 

 

In the United States, there were two major chemicals used as a source of chlorine for swimming pool 

sanitizing.  In the northern tier of the country, people tended to use “high test” dry, calcium hypochlorite. 

In the southern tier of the US, people tended to use “trichlor” or “90”. The calcium hypochlorite had a 

lower cost, but would decompose so quickly in strong southern sunlight that the “90” was preferred in the 

south. Olin’s “HTH” brand of “cal-hypo” held the vast majority of the US market place.  With the purchase 

of the FMC bleach plant, Olin would then have the majority of the Tri-chlor productive capacity in its “Pace” 

brand. Competitors quickly filed objections to the sale with the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), claiming 

an Olin purchase of the bleach plant would break anti-trust laws and give Olin a monopoly in the 

swimming pool chemical business.  The FTC essentially said something like, “Olin can purchase the plant 

from FMC, but, must maintain the assets at their current locations until we have ruled on whether they 

can own the assets or must sell them”.  This became known as the “FTC Maintenance Agreement” and 

would take 10 years to resolve.  (This ruling took away the Olin option of relocating the Livonia plant 

south.) Ultimately, the FTC ruled that the purchase did indeed violate anti-trust laws, and made Olin sell 

the business.  But, in early 1985, this ruling was a green light to Olin to go ahead and buy the plant.    

 

Campbell (strangely to me) did not remember the actual purchase price, but said, “It wasn’t very much in 

terms of what Olin was going to get in return”. 

 

One thing Olin failed to purchase was the FMC park that was west of the Bleach plant.  This was the land 

that the current Riverwalk Mall now occupies.  Olin did not want to be in the real estate business and 

decided not to spend the additional $2MM price FMC was asking for the property.  I think this was to 

prove a strategic mistake.  Within 2 years, the property was developed into the RiverWalk shopping area.  

The Bleach plant continued to unload liquid chlorine from railcars just a few hundred yards to the east of 

the new shopping mall. Railcar unloading of liquid chlorine is recognized as a threat to public safety 

because of the number of large leaks related to this activity.  We continued to unload the liquid chlorine 

with the mall next door. 

 

Campbell’s staff of department managers was a mix of very experienced people who were all use to Olin 

manufacturing.  Following him from Moundsville was Larry Matson (Operations) and Steve Parsons 

(Engineering).  Also from Lake Charles was Luis Morales (Purchasing) and Ron Thompson (Accounting). 

Jesse Williams (HR) was from Doe Run (KY) and Ray Ehnle (Safety) was from ????.  Campbell said, 

“Jesse wanted to get away from Dave Waters at Doe Run, and Thompson had just married and wanted to 

get out of Lake Charles, So, some were escaping some situation in their previous job.  But, I was lucky to 

get this level of Olin experience to help at South Charleston. Thompson was way too experienced to 

come to such a small plant, but, because of his personal needs, we got him.” Campbell studious avoided 

discussing Ehnle with me. 

 



Campbell did not exactly have a staff that was loyal to him.  Matson and Parsons were his. A past history 

with Thompson would not help Campbell because Thompson was a typical accounting manager within 

Olin:  trained to make sure that the plant manager protected company assets.  In fact, after the McIntosh 

fiasco where 75% of the plant manager’s staff, including the PM himself, got fired because of financial 

miss-doings, I seem to remember that the accounting manager did not report to the plant manager. 

Campbell could depend on Thompson to do an outstanding, professional job, but probably had to think 

that Thompson would throw him under the bus if required. Morales was new to his position and tended 

towards loyalty if not influenced by Williams or Ehnle. In all of my working with Morales, he presented 

himself as loyal to Campbell. Williams and Ehnle had a long history in their field, and had networked 

within their Olin disciplines to the point that they obviously considered themselves fairly independent from 

their boss. From my viewpoint, they were only as loyal as their positional relationship required. 

 

(I was an “Olin” man. I knew no one at the plant so my loyalty was organizational.  I reported to Larry 

Matson, so, I was loyal to him.  I rarely interfaced with Campbell.  I assumed that what Matson told me 

was what Campbell wanted accomplished.) 

 

I have no understanding of the inter-personal relationships within Campbell’s staff. After spending many 

years in plant manager meetings, I would have loved to have been in Campbell’s meetings just to 

observe how they worked together. No matter how they related to each other, this experienced group of 

department manager’s got it done. It is clear that their leadership was critical to the outstanding 

improvements and performance that was to happen over the first 2-3 years of Olin’s ownership. Campbell 

had an experienced staff and he made it work; just look at the results. 

 

With the management staff decided, and an agreement with FMC to make a purchase, Olin then started 

developing and implementing a strategy to staff the lower levels of the organization.   

 

Hiring Process Before Take-Over 

 

As part of the purchase agreement, Olin was obligated to staff the hourly positions out of the FMC pool of 

employees. I am not sure what obligation they had concerning the salaried ranks.  For both hourly and 

salaried positions, FMC would have wanted Olin to use as many FMC employees as possible because it 

decreased severance and unemployment insurance costs. 

 

It was critical for Olin to be able to hire technical staff that could actually run the plant.  If I had been Olin, I 

would have made something like “FMC, you have to let us hire who we want out of your employees 

as part of this purchase agreement” as part of the deal. 

 

I think there were three, 2
nd

 level, management staff people, Olin wanted from FMC: 

1. Rhondas Cavender (spelling?) was the FMC production manager at the bleach plant. 

2. John Drew was the production superintendent at the bleach plant. 

3. Rex Pauley was who Olin wanted to run Maintenance. 

Both Cavender and Pauley somehow were able to decline the offer from Olin and remained working for 

FMC.  Because Pauley was not going to go to work for Olin, they reached out within the Olin system and 

brought me up from the HTH/Chlor-Alkali plant in Charleston, Tn.,  

 

A few weeks before take-over, Cavender and Drew met with Olin at the hotel Olin personnel were staying 

at.  At this meeting, the FMC contingent recommended that Olin hire Dick Ely and Bill Fields as area, 

production, day supervisors. As I understand it, only Drew (Production Superintendent), Ely (Front End 

Day Production Supervisor) and Fields (Back End Day Production Supervisor) clearly understood that 



they were to be employed by Olin well before the take-over.  Most other FMC employees that became 

Olin employees did not become aware that they would be offered jobs with Olin until a day or so before 

take over.  

 

Olin had some people from Moundsville they wanted to slot into positions at the Bleach plant. York 

became a production shift supervisor, with Offenberg and Grandbouche going into Maintenance. I also 

went into Maintenance as the 2
nd

 level manager (superintendent). Otherwise, all other people in 

Production and Maintenance came from the FMC pool of employees and had to apply and interview with 

Olin. 

 

The selection process was stressful for both the Olin people doing the hiring, and the FMC employees 

applying for positions.  Olin made it clear they were going to hire based on qualifications, not seniority.  

The existing union labor contract FMC had with the Steelworkers did not have an “inheritance clause” so 

FMC could not dictate the hiring process to Olin via the existing union contract.  There was no obligation 

for Olin to use the hiring processes FMC had contractually agreed to with their union. Seniority within 

FMC was going to play no role in Olin’s decisions about who would be hired.  Only work history, past 

performance, and qualifications would be used by Olin.  For individuals who had worked under a union 

contract for their entire career with FMC, it was disheartening that someone with 10-20 years less 

seniority could be awarded a job before you would. 

 

The sale of the Bleach plant and shutdown of the main South Charleston FMC plant was a life changing 

event for a large group of FMC employees.  With a pool of probably 600-800 FMC employees that were 

going to lose their jobs there were only 120 hourly and 20-30 salaried positions open within Olin. The vast 

majority of FMC employees in the pool were going to lose their long term employment in really “good” 

jobs. Some could probably retire, but, several hundred FMC employees were going to have to go find 

other work.  It did not take much to figure out those type of high paying jobs were not available in the area.  

So, those several hundred people would either have to take a cut in pay or move out of the area.  You 

either had to get a job with Olin or FMC, or, your life was going to change significantly. Compounding this 

stressful situation was the fact that you would not know that you had a job with Olin until the sale occurred. 

The only way an individual could influence the process is by not messing up the interview or testing with 

Olin. Your past performance and work history was available to Olin.  You just had to hope that your skills 

and past work performance was good enough to get you hired on with Olin. 

 

If I had found myself in this position, I would have been stressed out to the maximum.    

 

Olin used “skills demonstration” testing, proctored by trainers out of their McIntosh, Alabama training 

center, to test craftspeople.  Craftspeople were given repair tasks (such as tearing down and building a 

Durco pump or making a 6G position weld) and had to do the activity with the trainer evaluating their 

performance.  

 

Herman Harless described how he faced the craftsman testing;  

“I wasn’t afraid of the testing because I had been doing the work for years.  I was afraid of making some 

mistake and messing up my chance for a job.  I didn’t know how to prepare other than what others had 

told me about the testing. Making such a repair as part of a test was completely different than doing it 

every day.  Having someone look over your shoulder and knowing that getting a job depends on how you 

do makes it completely, unbearably, stressful”. 

 

There was also a lot of stress for the Olin interviewers.  Imagine interviewing hundreds of people, 

knowing that only one out of four will be hired.  Many people you are talking to are desperate, some are 



defiant, some are calm, some are sweating.  You have already reviewed their work history with FMC, and 

know which individuals are not going to be hired because of their records, but, you still have to give them 

a full-fledged interview.  

 

Before the takeover, Zappitelli was out with his wife, shopping, and wearing something with an Olin logo.  

A disgruntled FMC employee came up to him and his wife and aggressively said, “You’re one of those 

Olin Sons-of-Bitches doing the interviewing”.   

 

Zapp told me, “That guy knew he wasn’t going to be hired, and, I learned not to wear an Olin logo out in 

public.” 

 

Most of the actual “hiring” occurred just a few hours before actual takeover of the plant operations by Olin. 

The day of the sale, FMC employees were told by FMC “Take personal belongings because you may not 

be back in the plant tomorrow. Go home, and wait for a phone call from Olin to see if you work tomorrow”. 

(Of course, much more than personal belongings went out with employees that afternoon.) 

 

Just imagine the stress of going home and waiting for a phone call from Olin.  (Only land lines were in use.  

This was way before cell phones.) This is the ultimate job lottery; almost a cruel lottery; that was being 

played out by Olin.   

 

The phone rings at 7:30pm and it’s a friend from the plant:  

Friend: “Have you been called, yet?” 

You: “No, what have you heard?” 

Friend: “Johnson told me he got called and Olin wants him down at the training center at 9pm.” 

You: “Let’s hang up.  I don’t want to miss a call.” 

 

At 8:15pm, the phone rings.  It is a call for your daughter.  You tell the friend of your daughter she can’t 

talk on the phone right now.  (How are you going to be able to afford her college tuition if you don’t get the 

job?).  You think to yourself: “If they want people down at the training center at 9pm, they have to be 

about done calling people.  I bet I’m not getting called.”  

 

At 8:25pm, the phone rings.  The caller identifies himself: “Hello, this is Gene Zappitelli of Olin 

Corporation…..” Later in the conversation, you say, “Of course I can make it down to the training center 

by 9pm……”  Your wife has heard your side of the conversation and has a big smile on her face.  The 

phone call means you have a job. 

 

At the training center, Olin told people their positions, when to report to work, and their rate of pay. Hourly 

rates had a token increase. Even the salaried supervision from FMC got their job offers the day before 

takeover. The meeting at the Training Center went on for 2-3 hours.  Some people started work 

immediately on midnight shift.  To my knowledge, not one person offered a job the day before the 

takeover turned it down. I was told that one hourly person had enough seniority that he could have gone 

to the Peroxide plant but he chose to work for Olin. 

 

A very interesting strategy was implemented by Olin in the first meeting with their new hourly employees.  

After being offered and accepting their new jobs, Olin told them “We have heard from many of you that 

you do not want to be represented by the Steelworker’s Union (who represented them with FMC).  We 

are going to take a “straw vote” right now.”  Olin passed out sheets of paper and asked everyone present 

to vote “Yes” or “No” about if they wanted to be represented by the Steelworkers Union.  The vast 



majority at this meeting voted “No”.  Olin announced to the group that they would not negotiate with the 

Steelworkers and that the hourly employees were “non-union”. 

 

The next day, representatives from the Steelworkers showed up at the Olin offices within the training 

center and announced that they were ready to start contract negotiations.  Olin told them that they did not 

represent the Olin employees, and that the Olin employees were union free.  The Steelworkers would 

have to organize them like any other non-union facility.  The Steelworkers filed an unfair labor claim 

against Olin, with the Nation Labor Relations Board (NLRB), for failure to recognize the union.  The NLRB 

eventually ruled that Olin had no obligations to recognize the Steelworkers as representing the Olin hourly 

employees.  The contract the Steelworkers had was with FMC.  That contract did not obligate FMC to 

force any buyer to recognize the Steelworkers (aka “inheritance clause”.) The NRLB told the Steelworkers 

what Olin had told them:  the law allowed them to legally organize the Olin employees, and that the Olin 

employees were protected by law in their right to be represented or not. 

 

This move by Olin was critical to the change they wanted to implement at the plant.  Olin was not “anti-

union. (Most Olin facilities were unionized and Olin had a long history of effective negotiations and good 

working relationships with their unions.)  But, the FMC contract with the Steelworkers, and how it was 

managed on a daily basis, had to be cut out of the new plant like it was a cancer. Olin was “Anti-

FMC/Steelworkers”. If Olin had allowed the Steelworkers to represent their new employees, the new 

employees would have had expectations that business would continue as usual. Business was absolutely 

not going to continue as it had in the past. Olin expected the plant to be organized. When it was 

organized, Olin’s strategy was to start the contact negotiations with a “clean slate” with every line item 

being negotiated. (While being interviewed for the Bleach job, I had been told that chances were high that 

I would be locked in the plant during a strike). The “baggage” of the FMC-Steelworker’s contract, and how 

it was managed by FMC, would have caused both the employees and Olin considerable pain and 

threatened the viability of the plant. 

 

To quote Jesse Williams: “There is no such thing as a bad union, just bad management.  Bad unions are 

caused by bad management.”    

 

I had no part with the hiring process and the decision to start the plant non-union but admired how it was 

done.  I recognized that both the hiring and “straw” union vote were outstanding business strategies. 

While achieving my MBA, we use to do case studies using articles out of the Harvard Business Review. 

The hiring and union strategy Olin used at the Bleach Plant were worthy of being published in the Harvard 

Business Review.    

 

Since the FMC employee Olin wanted to run Maintenance refused a job offer, Olin went internal and 

selected me.  I came up from the Charleston, Tennessee, chlor-alkali and swimming pool chemical plant.  

I had been the Maintenance engineer in the swimming pool plant and knew the hardware used at the 

Bleach plant.  I also had held several “superintendent” positions within the large Maintenance department 

and understood Maintenance management and systems.   

 

I interviewed about a week before the takeover. After taking me out for lunch, Campbell said, “Let’s sit in 

the car at the main gate for a while so you can see what is going on.”  As we sat there, we saw personal 

vehicles drive in through the gate.  They’d drive back out 10-15 minutes later loaded up with things like 

welding machines, small air compressors, even a small lathe went out in the back of a pick-up.   

 

Fred, “My God, they are stealing you blind!  How can you let this go on?” 

Campbell: “It doesn’t belong to Olin, yet.  Until take-over, it belongs to FMC”.   



Fred: “Can’t you get FMC to stop this from happening?  Those are things you will need to replace.”  

Campbell: “The management at FMC doesn’t care.  Many of them are losing their jobs, also.” 

Fred: “What about the guards?  They’re just standing there, waving the people thru.” 

Campbell: “The guards belong to the same union those guys belong to.  They’re also losing their jobs.” 

 

I had a visceral reaction to what I was watching.  I had a strong personal belief that stealing was wrong.  

At Olin, you automatically got fired for stealing and I fully supported that standard.  Here were portions of 

an entire organization, top to bottom, actively supporting stealing. Sure they were losing their jobs; but, 

how does that relate to doing what is right or wrong? I could not accept the logic I thought was occurring:  

“Everybody is losing their jobs, therefore, it is alright for me to steal thousands of dollars of goods. If I 

don’t steal it, somebody else will.” This ended up being a personification to me of FMC management and 

their inability or willingness to manage the workforce. I understood that it was a minority that was acting in 

this manner, but, I also understood that FMC management had to know what was happening and was 

ignoring it. Any respect I had for FMC management was lost that early afternoon.  Later, as I listened to 

stories about what used to occur in the plant, it just confirmed in my mind that bad management made for 

a bad and ineffective organization. Ultimately, such management helped to shut the FMC complex down 

and contributed to a thousand employees to lose their jobs. 

 

Ramblings About First Weeks and Months After Take Over 

 

As an Olin manager I was charted to play an active role in the change process that Olin wanted to 

implement at the plant: 

1. Treat others with respect and do not allow disrespect to occur at any time. 

2. Expect people to work and minimize hours paid for hours not actually worked. 

3. Avoiding a problem that FMC seemed to have, I was to allow no horseplay. 

4. The hourly employees were raised in a strong union environment.  Their fathers were union and 

most have only worked in a union environment.  That is the only condition of employment they 

understand. Do not give up anything in terms of work rules and the expectation of full compliance 

with Olin’s requirements.  We expect negotiations to occur with a Union, and any loosening of 

work rules will allow the union to claim that as a practice and already part of the agreement. Olin 

wants everything to be negotiated from a clean slate. 

5. Expect performance. 

 

The hiring process really worked for Maintenance.  I found a shop of skilled craftspeople and experienced 

supervisors. All of the craftspeople were “journeymen” level in skills:  no apprentices or “beginners”. 

Compared to the (non-union) workforce I had worked with in Charleston, Tn, this shop was an order of 

magnitude more skilled and effective.  The department had three planners and two very good 

Maintenance engineers. The initial challenge was not about how to make repairs since the crews knew 

how to fix things. It was how to prioritize what to work on first because the equipment in the plant was in 

relatively poor shape.  The first year or two I concentrated on implementing Maintenance systems: a 

computerized Maintenance information system; the storeroom; planning and scheduling the Olin way; etc. 

 

I was concerned about the large number of people Olin had staffed the plant with. I remember people 
from FMC saying, "How can we run this plant with so few people".  From my experience, I was saying, 
"How can we stay in business with so many people?"  The Maintenance department had 40 GMs, 15 IEs, 
8 supervisors, 3 planners, 2 engineers, a secretary, and me.  In addition, the storeroom had about 5 
technicians and a supervisor to begin with. At Charleston, Tn, we had half the headcount for the HTH 
plant which was similar in size.  Clearly, Olin overstaffed the facility.  From my perspective, they did so to 
increase the chances of success.  Certainly, in terms of Maintenance, the additional staffing allowed 



upgrades and reliability improvements to occur quickly. This high level of staffing probably helped the 
takeover be successful. 
 

Another thing that made the takeover successful was the “can do” attitude of the Maintenance crews. 

They did not complain about the changes.  Instead, they did a great job of concentrating on getting things 

repaired and improved. They had a strong desire to make the Bleach plant successful. I sensed they 

were doing this for their fellow employees and themselves. They wanted the plant to be successful, and 

worked as a group to make it so.  Across the plant, you would hear employees say “We want to be able to 

retire from this place.” As the plant improved over the first couple of years, you would sometimes hear a 

revised version of this: “We are going to be able to retire from this place.”  

 

I always suspected that this desire to corporately protect each other by making the plant successful was a 

big reason why the ex-FMC employees accepted the changes imposed by Olin. The pain of accepting the 

changes Olin was implementing was much less than the pain they had just faced and avoided: losing 

their jobs because the plant was not profitable. Olin was offering them a chance to continue a high 

standard of living, with retirement as the ultimate goal. The willingness of the ex-FMC employees to 

accept almost any requirement made by Olin was simply amazing. They quickly learned that working for 

Olin was completely different than working for FMC.  They seemed to embrace the changes; eager to 

learn how Olin wanted it done. Even when they knew how to do something, they would bounce “next 

steps” off an Olin employee as if an “Olin check” was required. 

 

After my first week at the plant, a Maintenance “GM” (general maintenance”) technician named Oscar 

Hensley, came up to me and spoke to me for the first time. “Fred, I like having a job here but it would 

really help if you guys would pay us.”  Olin had “contracted” with FMC to have FMC continue to issue 

payroll checks for the first few weeks.  Oscar and a few others had somehow “slipped thru the cracks” 

and did not get a paycheck for the previous (and first) week of work for Olin.  I got with Ron Thompson 

and he said “find out how much he expected to clear in his check and we’ll cut him a cash advance check 

that he can pay back when the payroll system gets this cleared up.”  Oscar and a few others got a check 

from Olin the next morning. 

 

There was a GM (Richard Riling) that fixed a problem that really changed the production rates of CA.  

Batch centrifuges were required to extract purified CA and we just could not get the reliability and rates up 

to nameplate through those machines.  This inability of the centrifuges to output the required rates was 

causing the Bleach plant to miss shipments to the Lake Charles “Pace” plant. Shortly after take-over, 

these centrifuges were a critical bottleneck to CA production. 

 

Riling told us: “The factory is putting the wrong backpressure spring in the hydraulic pump that drives the 

centrifuge. They’re installing a 35psi spring and it tears the pumps up and won’t provide the torque 

required.  I think we need to install a much higher backpressure spring, like 125psi.  Can I try it out?” He 

had been working the problem with our Maintenance Engineer (Howard Rice) and they had discovered 

that the OEM had lost original design documentation and might be using the wrong spring.   

 

Answer: sure, why not? Result: immediately the centrifuges were able to produce at capacity. 

 

Campbell and Olin were ecstatic about the result.  Campbell brought it up 30 years afterwards when I 

interviewed him in 2012.  “That old mechanic just came up and told us how to fix the biggest problem we 

had at the time.” 

 



Bill Fields told Riling, “I hate to think of the millions of dollars FMC spent on those centrifuges just 

because of a little spring.” 

 

Riling got the first and only, individual performance bonus, I have ever seen given to an hourly employee 

in 40 years of working in the chemical business.  I can’t remember how much it was, but, it was significant.  

When I told him that he was going to get a bonus for implementing his idea, I asked him if it would be 

alright for us to tell the plant about the bonus.  He said, “No Fred, don’t do that to me.  If these guys find 

about this bonus I won’t be able to work with them.” No good deed goes unpunished.  Riling was stuck 

with being the dedicated centrifuge repairman for several years. 

 

For those of you who know Riling, you know that he can ask a million questions and propose a thousand 

changes a day.  He absolutely wears you out if you stop to talk to him.  He is the best, natural, 

troubleshooter and problem solver I have ever worked with.  I was lucky enough to talk him into working 

for me after he retired from the bleach plant. The price I pay is I have to listen to his questions and 

proposals every day.  

 

A combination of things caused me to fall into a trap that haunted me for years at the Beach plant. I was 

the lowest level manager that had been an Olin employee.  I was assertive, and would always provide an 

answer and directions if someone asked me a question. I was also inexperienced as a manager and did 

not recognize my style was so “tell oriented”. As people faced problems, they would ask me “What do you 

(ie “Olin”) want us to do?” I was always ready to provide an answer, many times without listening to the 

real problems and exploring options to solutions with the person asking.  Soon, you would hear “Fred said 

to do………..”  This then morphed into a plant-wide saying whenever some sort of minor decision had to 

be made: “Fred Said”. Eventually it became a joke used across the plant; “Have you asked Fred what to 

do?” 

 

Compounding my frustration over the “Fred Said” issue was watching Richard Campbell as he discussed 

similar issues with hourly employees.  They would tell him “Fred Said…”, or, “Fred had us do it this way…” 

as they complained to him about some issue.  He would sagely shake his head and say something like 

“Fred had you do it that way, did he?” without actually answering them directly or telling them his own 

position.  He would end the conversation with something like “Well, I’ll discuss that with Fred.” Afterwards 

the individual would leave smiling, happy to have had a chance to express himself to my boss without 

recognizing that what “Fred had said” was exactly what Campbell and Matson wanted done. I was 

frustrated by incorporating things as directed by plant management, and him not directly supporting me 

when hourly employees discussed it with him. I named his approach “the Campbell shuffle.” 

 

As I watched these Campbell interfaces over “Fred Said” incidents, the light bulb went off in my head.  If 

Campbell could get away with just listening and never really debating or answering the question, maybe I 

should try the same strategy.  I didn’t recognize it at the time, but, Campbell had taught me the most 

important thing he could have ever taught me: “Listen first to understand before trying to be understood.” 

 

Shortly, a GM, named Steve Lowery, asked to discuss a complaint with me.  I can’t remember what the 

issue was about, but, I can remember the results.  As he came into my office, I studiously listened to his 

problem.  I did not debate it.  I did not answer his questions or propose solutions.  I did ask non-

threatening questions that helped me better understand his position and concerns.  After I had listened, I 

paraphrased what he had said and what I thought his concern was back to him and he confirmed I 

understood his issue.  I then told him, “Let me think about this for a day or so before we make a decision.  

You think about it also, and we’ll talk about it tomorrow.” He left the office relaxed and comfortable with 



his visit.  This was a totally uncomfortable approach for me to take.  I had seen it work for Campbell and 

was determined to try to make it work.  

 

The next day, in the hallway, Steve came up to me and proposed a solution I could easily accept.  I told 

him “thanks, let’s do it that way.”  The very first time I tried the “Campbell shuffle” it worked!  

 

Federal Trade Commission Ruling 

 

Shortly after Olin announced their planned purchase of the FMC dry swimming pool chemical business, 

other manufactures filed a claim with the FTC stating that the purchase was monopolistic and should not 

be allowed.  The FTC ruled that the purchase could go forward under a “Maintenance Agreement”. This 

required Olin to maintain (or improve) the assets as and where they were purchased, while the FTC 

would review the case. No timetable was given for the review, but Olin guessed it would take 2-4 years.   

 

I was amazed that the FTC let Olin purchase the business.  Olin dominated the dry “hyper-chlorate” 

business with their HTH brand.  Now, with the combination of their Pace and FMC’s “Clearon” brands, 

they would dominate the dry “chlorinator-iso” side of the business.  They would be the number one 

manufacturer, with 2-3x the market-share compared to any competitor, for both types of dry chlorine used 

in swimming pools in the United States.  If that wasn’t limiting competition, what would?  

 

The ruling put a very dark cloud over the plant.  How long would Olin get to own and operate the facility?  

Would a new owner be buying the plant within a couple of years?  Would Olin try to “steal” the 

manufacturing capability of the Bleach plant, shut the Bleach plant down, and move the capacity to Lake 

Charles (like they did in the TDI business?) It was sure easy to guess what the FMC employees were 

thinking: “Am I busting my butt to help Olin make the plant profitable, just to go thru another change in 

ownership? Worse yet, so they can run the plant down where nobody else will buy it?” 

 

The Maintenance Agreement stopped any potential of Olin relocating the Livonia Tableting and 

Packaging (T&P) facility down to South Charleston. The opportunity to save shipping costs by having the 

T&P packaging done in South Charleston was one of the opportunities Olin saw with the purchase. Only 

after Olin was forced to sell the business to Israeli Chemicals was the relocation finally done about a 

dozen years after the Olin purchase. 

 

Eventually, after 10 years, the FTC finally ruled that Olin had to sell the assets.  For the first couple of 

years after the Maintenance Agreement ruling, the potential of Olin having to sell the plant was always on 

the minds of employees. As Olin poured money into the facility, and greatly improved safety and 

production rates, the fear of Olin “short timing” the plant decreased greatly.  As the FTC process ground it 

way thru rulings, court case, delayed hearings, over years and years, the potential became somewhat like 

the threat of heart attack.  Yes it was possible, but, nothing seemed to ever be on the threat horizon. After 

3-5 years, the FTC potential to have Olin sell the business was just part of working there and rarely came 

up in discussion or the thoughts of people.  The singular exception was related to pensions. 

 

The Pension Fiasco 

 

FMC employees had the expectation that Olin would purchase their pension funding from FMC.  With that 

being done, their pension accumulation based on years of service would go on without having to re-start 

in the Olin pension plan with no years of service.  Somehow, as the sale was consummated, one or both 

sides decided that this would not occur.  For years both Olin and FMC pointed the finger at the other for 

blame on why this did not happen.  Bottom line, after a few weeks of working for Olin, past FMC 



employees found out that their pension plan would have to start new in Olin. (I can’t remember if they 

were automatically vested in the Olin pension, or, if they had to work 5 years with Olin to get vested.  I 

think they were not immediately vested within Olin’s pension at takeover).  Their FMC pension was 

effectively frozen at their 1985 FMC salary and ending years of FMC service.  If they had 15 more years 

of work ahead of them, their pension would be much larger if they got to use their ending salary instead of 

whatever they were making in 1985.   

 

Compounding the situation was the “Maintenance Agreement” and the threat of being sold before 

achieving vesting in Olin’s plan, and having to start in even another pension plan. 

 

A Production Supervisor, Joe Lively, started a lot of contacts within both companies to get information out 

to ex-FMC employees and to try to get some relief from either side.  I know that Olin put a lot of work into 

this issue, and made some concessions, especially about if they had to sell the plant.  I have all of those 

communications and resolutions in files and hope to be able to get those documents scanned and posted 

later in this web site. (Joe, if you are reading this, it would be handy if you authored your view and take on 

this so I can include it in this web page.) 

 

“If you don’t like working here, stand on the Mound and look north!” – Jesse Williams 

 

I cannot describe the change process FMC employees had to go through without discussing the HR 

department.  Leading HR was Jesse Williams as the HR Manager. Reporting to him were two 

experienced “HR Supervisors”: Gene Zappitelli (aka “Zapp”) and Thom Crimans (aka “the Criminal” as a 

somewhat cruel play off his last name). Administrative support was provided by Jeanne Horsfield and 

Vicky McNeil. Supporting them from the Chemicals Group HR was Mike Bentley and numerous other 

group HR members.  Like other departments, the HR department was clearly overstaffed at the beginning 

but the additional HR support was critical in supporting the takeover. 

 

The role these HR professionals played in supporting the success of the plant cannot be overstated. High 

levels of experience, great connections and interface with Chemical group resources, and plain old 

interpersonal skills helped guide the plant through tremendous social change and upheaval.  They all 

played their parts at making the plant successful, but, Williams was such a dominate personality that most 

of my stories will involve him. 

 

It is safe to say that Williams was strong-willed and had a dominate personality.  He was definitely an 

extrovert, outspoken, and expressive.  I had the sense that this sometimes got him in trouble with his 

operational bosses.  In 2012, Campbell had mentioned “Jesse wanted to get away from Dave Waters at 

Doe Run.” 5-6 years after takeover, when it was announced that Campbell would become the Lake 

Charles plant manager and that Hal Foss would become the Bleach plant manager, Williams was 

physically shaken.  He told me later, “I can’t work for Foss so I’ll be out of here as soon as possible.”  

 

Williams and I simply did not get along with each other.  Williams would tell me what I had done wrong, 

and what had to be done to fix it, and I would point-blank resist him if I thought he was not right. I owe 

Larry Matson an apology for all of the grief he had to take about something I had done that Williams did 

not like.  To his credit, Matson did a good job of defending me, but, over the years, I could tell that 

managing the Williams-Paschall interface was wearing Matson down. I appreciate all the support Larry 

gave me.  

 

I started off resisting Williams almost immediately.  Shortly after I “sold” my house in Cleveland, Tn., to 

Olin, Williams came to me and said, “The relator Olin contracted to sell your house says the interior needs 



paint and that you took landscaping with you that was supposed to stay at the house.  You will have to 

pay for the paint and landscaping costs to make the house saleable.”  

 

I asked him, “Who is the realtor” and he told me. I laughed and Williams took offense and asked what I 

was laughing about.  I told him I knew the realtor quite well, and we had both worked in the Charleston, 

TN, Olin tech center.  I told Williams that realtor had been let go by Olin and that the word was he had got 

caught at a gate check with a dozen gloves in his lunchbox.  I asked, “Olin is using a realtor who they 

fired?”  Williams told me, “It is Olin’s practice to rotate the realtor assignments and it was his turn.” I was 

already miffed about the conversation and asked, “Why would he be allowed a turn?” 

 

I then explained to Williams that we had painted all of the interior walls in the house, and that other Olin 

employees had helped me and would verify that fact.  “I think the realtor is trying to take advantage of 

Olin.” I was confused about the landscaping claim and asked Williams to come up with more details. 

 

A couple of days later Williams showed me “before” and “after” pictures from the realtor that supposedly 

proved the landscaping claim.  After looking at them I laughed so hard I thought I would faint.  The more I 

laughed the redder and madder Williams got.  When I caught my breath I pointed out that all of the 

“missing landscaping” were annuals.  “You know, you plant them in the spring every year and tear them 

out after frost when they die?  This guy is really trying to screw Olin and he is wasting your time.” Williams 

must have given up on me paying to “improve my house for sale” because I heard nothing more about it. 

 

Olin had a cost-of-living payment plan they had given me as part of the relocation package. A few months 

after moving down to the valley Williams came up to me and abruptly told me, “They calculated the cost-

of-living incorrectly and gave you too much.  They are going to have reduce the monthly amount they are 

paying you.”  I told Williams, “I just want what the system allows.  Have someone go through the 

calculations with me and I’ll agree to whatever the procedure says I am eligible to receive”. 

 

A little later, a group HR representative sat down with me to explain the “lowered” cost-of-living payment 

calculations.  As we went through her worksheet, I pointed out several math errors. When we were done 

going through what the procedure provided, I had convinced her I was owed twice the amount they had 

originally told me when I accepted the position, and almost 4 times the amount they thought I was due 

with their poor math.  The gal was somewhat embarrassed, apologized for the confusion, and committed 

to getting the payment amount increased to the amount we had agreed was correct. Next month, I was 

getting double for cost of living adjustments than what I thought I would get when I took the job.  Williams 

never mentioned it to me.  I knew he was mad about it and I avoided the topic with him but had fun 

describing what had occurred to Matson. 

 

One final Williams-Paschall story summarizes the distrust and problems we had between us.  We were 

discussing a Maintenance employee that had excessive absences and somehow, we got on the topic of 

“calling off sick and just doing what you want to do.”  I told Williams I had never, and would never, call in 

sick to take a day off and go do something.  He ridiculed me, “You got to be kidding, you’ve never called 

off sick and not been sick?”  He laughed at me when I continued to claim no, “It’s stealing and I can’t 

stand a thief.”  Williams and I had completely different paradigms about a lot of things; that is for sure. 

 

A few months after take-over, Williams came to my office as mad as I ever saw him.  He was red-faced, 

short of breath, and stammered to me “That SOB who works for you just goosed me in front of a bunch of 

other people!”  A GM had literally grabbed William’s buttocks in a classic “goosing.”  This was the kind of 

horseplay that use to occur at FMC but was absolutely unthinkable within Olin.  (I was personally glad the 

GM had not goosed me because we both would have lost a job, he would have lost teeth, and I probably 



would have been arrested and jailed.  Williams had a lot more experience than I did and acted much 

better than I probably would have.) It had been out of my control but Williams was so mad I felt like he 

thought it could have been partially my fault.  I asked Williams, “You want me to suspend him, pending 

investigation” and that is what happened.  

 

In 2012, Campbell recalled the incident; “It was a significant turning point in our takeover.  After initial 

investigation, and talking to group HR, I left the decision to Jesse about whether the guy got fired or not.”  

The individual got a long suspension – seems like 30 days.  Campbell noted, “Some of the hourly 

employees came up to me and asked if they could take up a collection for the man.  I had to tell them that 

the company could not support such a collection activity.” 

 

I think Williams did the right thing by doing a suspension instead of a termination.  Not because I thought 

the incident did not justify termination because I did.  But because for years afterwards, that GM was a 

working reminder of “no horseplay allowed.” If he had been terminated, the incident would have been 

forgotten a lot faster because of “Out of sight, out of mind.” Officially, Olin and any management have to 

keep discipline private.  In this case, it was impossible to keep the discipline private.  So, with such a 

public display of discipline, the impacts of the action were greater on the rest of the plant, not the 

individual who got suspended. 

 

Within a couple of years, the Steelworkers had enough cards signed to go to the NLRB and request a 

vote on whether the hourly employees desired to be union.  The initial strategy by Olin was very muted, 

especially by what “remaining union free” consulting usually advocates. Olin felt like the employees now 

knew what it was like to be non-union, and the previous representation by the Steelworkers had protected 

nobody when it came to getting a job with Olin and protected very few with keeping a job with FMC. Thus, 

the famous Williams quote: “If you don’t like working here, stand on the Mound and look north!” (At this 

time, the main FMC plant north of the mound was being demolished and hundreds of Steelworkers were 

out of work.) Our employees had got their jobs with Olin based on their personal performance, not by 

seniority or contractual rules and the Steelworkers had done nothing for them in terms of getting 

employment with Olin.  Olin felt like the best thing going for not getting organized was the fact it was the 

same old Steelworkers trying to get our employees unionized. With our heads in the sand, plant 

management decided a low-keyed “let’s remain union free” campaign would best fit the current culture at 

the plant. I think a just a few informational meetings were held to explain the company’s position. 

Because of the shift configuration, Olin also wanted two different days for the voting so each employee 

could vote before a regularly scheduled shift.   

 

I was not present during the voting and the incident that occurred at the beginning of the second day of 

voting.  But, what transpired became plant lore.  I am telling it from “hearsay.” 

 

After the first day of voting, employees representing the union (including Bob Beckett, an I/E technician) 

and Olin (Williams) signed seals that were put across the voting box.  The NLRB representative took the 

voting box and was to return with it the next day for day two of voting.  When the box returned for day two, 

Beckett observed that the seals had been violated and the signatures on the seals no longer matched up.  

Voting was completed and when the count was done, the “Yes” votes had a clear majority. The suspect 

voting said the Steelworkers would represent Olin employees at the Bleach plant. 

 

Olin filed a claim with the NLRB stating that the violated seals indicated that the voting box could have 

been “stuffed” with yes votes.  The story was that the NLRB representative had put the sealed voting box 

in the trunk of his car and then took the car for service locally.  He did not have control of the voting box 

while the car was in the shop. The NLRB ruled that, since the seals had been violated, the first round of 



voting would not be validated and that a second election would have to be held.  Olin ran an aggressive 

campaign the second time, and all of the voting was done on one day.  The second time, the “No” votes 

won by a clear majority.  Williams always claimed that he honestly felt like the first vote had been “rigged”. 

 

Shortly after the hourly employees voted to remain union free, Williams spearheaded a large change in 

benefits for the hourly employees at the plant.  Olin essentially rewarded them by providing the same 

benefit most non-union, Olin, plants had: paid absences for any sickness or illness.  I was surprised that 

this benefit change occurred immediately after the union vote.  It was against fair labor law to promise or 

provide pay raises, increased compensation value, etc, to employees before an election if they voted 

against the union.  Obviously, no promises were made by Olin, but, I also suspect that Williams, Zapp, 

and Crimans let it be known before the election that remaining non-union would be beneficial for 

employees. I fully expected another unfair labor claim to the NLRB by the Steelworkers but it never 

occurred. 

 

I have to put credit where it is due.  Williams, Zappitelli, Crimans, and Bentley, managed the plant through 

two unique union organizational efforts.  The initial straw vote at take over and refusal to recognize the 

Steelworkers was a stroke of genius.  That by itself is probably unique in terms of union disfranchisement.  

Then, managing thru the first organizational effort also ended up with the plant Steelworker free.  Note I 

did not say “Union Free” since I really did not think Olin was as concerned about being union free as 

much as avoiding the baggage that would come with the Steelworkers. These stories about how the plant 

remained union free are valid case studies. 

 

One last story about Jesse Williams.  Again, this is hearsay and I do not know if it is true, although I did 

see the switch under his desk.  The story goes that Williams had a switch under his desk that he could 

use to record conversations without others knowing it about it.  If true, this would have been very 

unethical.  Unfortunately, many at the plant believed this was true and we were all careful about what we 

said in front of William’s desk.  I know for sure there was a switch because I saw it a few years later.  I 

always wondered if this was another “mind game” being played by Williams. 

  

Operations, Engineering, and Other departments  

I would love it if someone from Operations, Engineering, and other departments would tell stories about 

their part of the organization.  Operations was led by John Drew, an Englishman (aka the “Limey”) who 

eventually became a plant manager for Bayer. Steve Parsons led the engineering effort required to pour 

millions of dollars into the facility for physical improvements.  Both departments participated in and drove 

the changes that occurred, as important to the success of the plant as any of the other departments. 

 

The Ones Who Have Not Retired 

The vast majority of people who went to work for Olin at the bleach plant in 1985 made it to retirement.  

There are still a handful of people still working in the bleach business; either at the plant or still associated 

with the business.  At a “retiree breakfast” in late December, 2013, a list was made of the people who are 

still not retired.  By our count, there are about a dozen of the original 170+ still working “Bleach”. (Send 

me corrections of this list is not right): 

 

 Kenny Lewis, Maintenance 

 David Hensley, Maintenance 

 Steve Hartley, Maintenance 

 Reed Hess, ?? 

 Steve Hudson, Operations 



 Chuck Mallory, Operations 

 Jerry Parsons, ?? 

 Joe Zeeger, Operations 

 Richard (Bull) Durham, Operations 

 Ronnie Easter, I assume still IT. 

 Sandy Offenberg ?? 

 Mike Ligon, I assume still in Supply Chain or Purchasing 

 

 

The Ones Who Have Left Us 

We are all getting older.  As time goes on, our “community” will be getting smaller. Many more than a 

handful of our co-workers have passed away.  These folks greatly helped the plant, and are no longer 

with us to share these stories, discuss what grand and great- grandchildren are doing, and attend the 

informal “retiree” breakfasts and lunches. We all dearly miss our departed friends; they helped all us to 

get to retirement.  Let us keep them and their families in our memories and prayers.  

 

A few of us tried to reconstruct the organization chart at takeover. Our feeble memories convinced us that 

we probably did not get it right.  Individuals we thought had died are listed in blue on the org chart.  Send 

me a quick e-mail at Fred@MakingBleach.org with suggestions for corrections in this org chart.  If you 

happen to be listed as dead, and are alive enough to read this article, rejoice that “the rumors of my death 

are greatly exaggerated.” If you know that someone else has passed, let us know so we put their names 

in blue. 
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Appendix



 



1985 Org Chart at Olin Take Over  

 Estimated 77 Salaried and 104 Hourly Employees  
We think individual’s whose names are in blue are deceased. Rev 1-7-14 

Plant Manager: Richard Campbell 

    Barbara Peal  

  

 Accounting Manager – Ron Thompson 

  Accountant – Randy Lawson 

  Clerks –  Susan McGee 

     Sandy Offenberg 

      Norma Lowe 

      Patti NcComas 

      Norm Casto 

      Minerva Tinsley 

            Raw Materials   Jeanne Stephens 

   IT Ron Warren 

   IT – was there a second IT 

 

 Safety Manager - Ray Ehnle 

  Secr. -   Nancy Thompson 

Safety Supervisors (McCray was the only safety supervisor at take-over.  Others were 

added within a few weeks.)    

   Tim Martin     

   Eddie Miles         

Stan McCray 

Chuck Mallory     

  Nurse - Bill Norman 

      

 Purchasing Manager – Luis Morales 

  Purchasing Agents 

   Mike Ligon 

               Keith Rumbaugh  

  Purchasing Clerk  

   Joyce Crouch 

 

 Engineering Manager – Steve Parsons 

  Secretary  Joan Peters 

  Lab Supervisor – Bob Scalese 

Industrial Hygenist  Kathy Bowyer 

                     Bo Wessien 

Lab Techs  Lloyd Nelson 

  Huey Goodall 

  John Duncan 

  Debbie.Mosley  

  Environmental –Morgan French 

  Project Mngr –   Mitch Toto 

  Elect Engr –       Larry Harris 



        PAC Engr – Jim Reid 

  Process Engs – Tawney Hall  

-        Regina DeVillier   

-        Bill Hensley 

                                       Ernie Nolet    

                                       Dick Brendler       

HR Manager –   Jesse Williams 

 HR Supervisors 

- Gene Zappitelli 

- Thom Crimans 

HR Admin 

- Jeannie Horsfield 

- Vicki McNeil  

Operations Manager – Larry Matson 

  Operations Supt –          John Drew 

  Front End Day Supvr –   Dick Ely 

  Front End Shift Supvrs 

  Joe Lively 

  Pokey Allison 

  Steve Allison 

  Bob Jarvis  

  Back End Day Supvr –  Bill Fields 

  Back End Shift Supvrs 

     Stan Taylor 

     Gary Goins 

     Freddy Bell 

     Jim York 

    Was there a relief shift supvr? 

    Operators 

   Production Engrs 

    The gal that eventually became our environmental engr  

      SusanThompson   & Jodi Thyan later  

 

   Shipping  

Bill Cantebury     Shipping Operators & Storeroom rotated initially  

 

  Maintenance Supt – Fred Paschall 

   Secretary.  Lois Thomas 

  Maint Day Supvrs 

    Bob Rowe – Front End 

    Steve Mathews – Back End 

    Grant Offenberg    

    Joe Motus – I/E  6mos…Reggie Daniels later  

  Maint Shift Supvr 

    Dean Miles 

    John Grandbouch 

  Evenings 

    Billy Joe Smith   

    Larry King   



   Maint Planners 

    JJ Dodson – lead planner 

    Ron Johnson 

    Harold Gandee 

   Maint Engrs 

    Will Fields – Back End 

    Howard Rice – Front End 

   Storeroom –   

    Storeroom clerks 

    I & E     

  Mike Stover  Ed Clay 

  Ronnie Armstrong Jay Jacobs  

  Ronnie Bailey   Delbert Huffman 

  Fred Snyder  Joe Halstead  

  Dana Huffman  David Painter      15 

  Steve Midkiff   Paul Bumgardener 

  Bob Beckett   Rodger Droddy 

  Kenny Patterson        

   

Shipping/Storeroom 

  Roy Mallory  GA Parsons    D W Dalton 

    Mark Foster   R. L Grimes    J W Hudson 

  L L Kouns  Bob Price    Reed Hess       

  Denis Starcher   C E Mallory    O A Rippetoe   15 

  Steve Brisco  Kim Dolin   D C Chandler     

        

Maintenance GMs:          

Fred Hamrick  Steve Hartley  Dave Kapp         Mike Pauley  

Ralph Parsons  Arthur Boggs  Dave Burgess  Jerry Miller  

Bob Franklin  Doug Dent  Mike Merguc            Steve Hartley  

Dave Parsons  Gerald Wood  Grant Walker   Keith Grant 

Herman Harless Larry Hedrick  Ken Scarberry   Kenny Lewis 

Gary Childress  Jerry Duke  Dave White  Steve Lowery 

Dale Akers  Tom Crouch  Ashley Bishop  Lee Givens   

Butch Marker  Oscar Hensley  Rodger Clark     

Bill Rust  Mark Sayre  Jerry Mannon    

Richard Riling  Dave Whitlock  Vernon Good               40   

Paul Griffith  Paul Stricklen  Dave Kidd 

 

(continued next page) 

                  

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Production: 

Danny Preistley  George Lawson  Hoy Young    

Fred Blackburn Dave Dawson     Richard Withrow   49 

J B Lewis  Gerald Priestly  Rodger Turley 

John Lovett  Paul Kilgore  John Harris 

Rick Duram  Dave Haynes  Tim Martin 

Joe Zegeer   Glen Sigmon  Ronnie Easter    

Wally Rose  Marge Rowley  Bob Lockheart  

Jerry Parsons   Jerry Withrow   Dave Spurlock       

Bill Hutchinson   Colon White (Blue  Sandy Carmen    

P T Turley   Ron Myers  Frank Cassel 

Diane Montaue? Dick Pierce   Pete Jones 

Diane McErlean  Steve Hudson  Dave Howard 

Bob Searls  Larry Gore  John Clark   

Quenton McCallister  Bill O’Neil   Terry Sponoggle 

John Winter  Dave Jones  Archie Michael 

Rex Dean   Bill Dlugus   Jerrel Stephenson 

John  Harrison  Jimmie Stewart        
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